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Independent auditors’ report to the unitholders of Daiwa Gaika
MMF

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Daiwa Gaika MMF’s financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the Trust’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at 31 December 2024
and of its results for the year then ended; and

e have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland
(accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland” and Irish law).

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Audited Financial
Statements , which comprise:

the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2024;

e the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;
e the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended;

e the Schedule of Investments as at 31 December 2024; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”)
and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the manager’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to
the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the manager with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report and Audited Financial
Statements other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The manager is responsible
for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, any form of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of
the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the manager for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of AIFM Responsibilities the manager is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework giving a true and fair
view.

The manager is also responsible for such internal control as the manager determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the manager is responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the manager intends to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly
using data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing,
rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on
their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion
about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA
website at:

https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
a98202dcgc3a/Description of auditors responsibilities for audit.pdf.

This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Use of this report

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the unitholders as a body in accordance
with the European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

%wm%@m

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Dublin

24 April 2025

e The maintenance and integrity of the Daiwa Securities Co. Ltd. website is the responsibility of the
manager; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and,
accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the
financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

e Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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INTEAE CHIE S R WeRTE FER L OVl alE

I & U CAEME CHIE SN WEREER L Ol A &I, IBEMAEN A EME I Bl 2 mEH 4m
EEBLO@MABTH D, EHHESEZETHESIT. AEMEE =7 V% —DO L VIS L, BifEE
U CTAEME TRE SN R2WEDOMOT X TOEMEES L OARIZ, L-unichEshb,

4. LB MRS

BT e T ROERMPEROLELLZERY AZF, UTOXIICERNEIND,
HHY R

Wi U 270, A R OFE DM OREEEN DAL S, Thud, 37 - 77 v FOMIRZE BN E
LIeBRCRE T H5~v—F v b - AUV a U a@ L THLIBTERNRAEZ RS, TiHY A7, SEED0 ) 27 (T
bbb, i) 27, BEIAZBLIOENY A7) hoERIh s,

fii#g VU 2 7

iU A 71X, $7 - 77 v ROERELOANEMENEF] E23ABO ML OERICE > Tl &R &
NATBEOEBORER L LTEBMTEENI Y R ThHD, 7« 770 FOLSREMELIE, EENICITME
UAZIZE HITHRN,

wEy Rz

WEY A7 IE, %%Lau%@ngmﬁzf~vr~@7ﬂ&ﬁ@% L0HT - T R EERE
KEFT, K7 7 AOREEMAFITT T, Yi%y 7 AOBERERTTHY . MBREHEER L OEEH
R ENLBEEROERREELZIT D LT,
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SR 27

HD YU AZIL, RGO REAMER TS OSREMER L TE#T LY 27 L LTEZEND, VAV
3. ATEMENSFIBREE O L » TEREEZZ 1 5 empEmIc 4 Lo,
UTDFEIT, EERBEOERY 27T T« 770 ROT 7 ZAR—V v —OWMETH 5, 2K LA
77 v NOEER ZUHRSI|

FRYGE A £ 2T B OV TR0 L > THshe, KAEMETOST -

BENEEFN TS,
20244F
12> H R 1~304 4~60>A fEFIE. A&t
b % X F kK b A% b %
ERE
EMTEA % 5 Lo BlTHA 593,014,178 — — — 593,014,178
ARUEHE - — — 33,032,865 33,032,865
1548 U CAEAME T
HET 2 g rE 718,042,833  1,040,229,603 235,902,523 — 1,994,174,959
BESE 1,311,057,011  1,040,229,603 235,902,523 33,032,865 2,620,222,002
ALk
RINMEHS — — — 19,332,540 19,332,540
AEEFT — — — 19,332,540 19,332,540
SBRIEE X v v T HEE 1,311,057,011  1,040,229,603 235,902,523 N/A N/A
(N/A : 3472 1)
20234E
12> A R 1~3/0A 4~60°H fEFIE At
b i k Ry * Ry * Fv * Fav
& RE
EMTES % 5 o BlTEAe 639,509,915 — — — 639,509,915
ARUUEE — — — 9,758,294 9,758,294
15 %8 U CAEAMIE T
BET D EREE 600,449,567 995,277,203 184,361,237 — 1,780,088,007
EREAE 1,239,959,482 995,277,203 184,361,237 9,758,294  2,429,356,216
Al
RIAMESS — — — 32,446,604 32,446,604
AEEF — — — 32,446,604 32,446,604
SBFREE X v v T EEE 1,239,959,482 995,277,203 184,361,237 N/A N/A

(N/A : #4572 1)

EERIA G A MR ICET 2 ZWMER 2 RET DD DORF~v—27 - L— KNI, 7+ 77 FIZoNT
IZSOFR (20234F : LIBOR) (2, FFEDX— A « iRA b (bps : 10053 D1%) ZEAZ 2 0ESINTZEH DIZHES

WTWN 5,

I OETEVEHEIL, EERRIC Lo TITbh s, 207 2 FLi3hlic, EERSMtT, e bl

—[EMEERWEM 2B IZIT O, ZhITiE, A=V R« h—T7 OBk LT AT A Mg END (BEH
GIEA ST, WARIR RO ER 2508 L OM00—2 R - AV MZRELTWD, ) .
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PITDOFRIL, BRI~ AT AS0R—V R « iIRA 2 FH T T A100_— A « IRA 2 FOMTE#TH 2= |
I 2 RIE T R 2R R LT D,

20244
+100bps +50bps -25bps -50bps
USKV - R—=Fr7x U A -0.11% -0.05% 0.03% 0.05%
20234F
+100bps +50bps -25bps -50bps
USRIV - R—h7x U A -0.11% -0.06% 0.03% 0.06%
HEMEY 27

TWEMEY 2203, AT T 4 VT 4 Bmna@iisORELEIC, 7 - 77 > N2 ORE ORI 2 & B itk
THAICHETE RV Z RS, V7 - 77 v FOBESIIAES ITHREFRREEICKRE S, A——F A
FOBEF R E L TRI%RRER SN DD, £OBMITEEHIHA L TH 2568 L OHSHRLOLE AT
EimEnNs, HEEBSTIE. KEER LOBERICOWTHERE AT T2 OICHEBEICRTEAE L #ig 2 D,
MG ORI, BEOHIHSITES HICNEECRY . ZhABIRESER S, LERGEITIE. 2
SN, F—==T A F - Ty v aPNENESND,

BRI, Y7 - 77 2 FIZHEMH S5 R ORENE L EWL O 85T 2 FEPR 9 5 7 8 O 20 B 7o B
EEFRAHIE L, FhE Lo WREN T2 b0 LT 5, HROREIMIEEE OB 2 iR 92 7201, 18 il
HoOEEN, (1) ¥ — N7+ U A OMEEMBED30%% TEY . 2o, IlREIHIZBIT2—HOMER L
BIO%EBR 2%, £21E, (L) V7« 77 FOMEEMBEDOL10% % FE 256, FHSHITE HI@EH
%, MMFEFBBNCESEFRSND —FITEROKELZEH T2 ERET H72DIC, YZY T - 77>
R D48 ORI L Tl HE 2 IRET 2720 OXF LSz Efi 5 b D &5,

LIFOWEEY 27 oFiZ, FERBIAEOKEH B £ TORFYRICE S NTIV—T3TF 2 L) T -
77 ROEMEEDHHTTH D,

202448 % 20234F
Bl 22.95% 26.47%
2—7H 5.03% 2.90%
8—30H 21.06% 18.50%
31—90H 41.81% 44.50%
91—180H 9.15% 7.63%
181—365H 0.00% 0.00%
365 Hi 0.00% 0.00%

TRTOEREAMEIL, 122H UWNICHIREISET 5,
FEEME AN N OEIGIE. MAEEORKEEER Th H2024F12H30H 2 HEE L BEIZE ST S,

fERY R

FERYAZE, BEBIHFELFRYT « 77 0 FIZH LEBEZZO&RGEEBVIZBIT Lo BHIicy 7 - 77
YERBAS L ERBIBRICEoTHONS, VT - Ty v Rk, BBIMTEAOEHY AZIcEbEh, £k
BEARBITOV AT B -TWD, 7 - 77 v Rk, 0708, FilB I OMEREEZE T 26 N BEIHFE);
DHZERYNT S, HHAMAEEOEBENIT, AKRENTETa—T—%2 N L THIM LEICRE S, b s,
FRHEMIEEOBFELIZ, 7o —A—N X2 ZH LIRS TORITONEDT, F 7+~ - UZXZITEFIC
PhhnkEZz oD, BMREDOKIANT, 7o —h—PEMEARE%E LR TIThbd, A——F A | -
FRY v MIHAESN DB AT T, BEICREEINL Y A FOSUTICHEIT b5, $ATORIPE X 72I3MPEIC
X0, HECHETIVT - 77 ROERNGTONIDHIREND Z R3S D, WEEASMHIET, S&PS
2= \AEB XL —T 4 =X KV RESND . SARSUTOEIBRM ZEHRT 2,
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BT Ty REER, B FPRBENEOREEBITL R Z LICERTAEAY AZ &5 E3RTW5,
BT Ty v RREET D AMAESRRCE OO OFITEDFRANENA L, BRA MR M3 2 &
SRE T ZAMRAESR R T T D AW FHD —H £ 72T T N THERIZOBRDB LRV E W D LRIET RV,

SO AT LT 4 — NIRRT 40— (TANTR) UITy RiE, 2OYT - BANT o7 (LT
MRIfRE S &), ) & LTEHERGEBITHASe v FUREEZTM LT D, BIRESTIL. FE
RBAEA— (20234 : A—) D7 4 v FRBABRMZETH D ZHMEKETHR S0 v FUXETH D,
SHEREESITHRS e FUREIE, k27 a— S BT - B2 F 4Ty (UTF (7 a— S LEHRE
£t Eno, ) ELTT I e TIP—X e nNUwr TR =— ( [BBHJ ) #fEmLT\5,
BBHIX., FERIMEA+ 20234 : A+) O7 4 v FHEAKRMEHR WL, 7 - 77 v ROEREB I OB &L,
Xrwyia IRVALN AT =T ([CMS) ) ICBENRE SN WG EkE, FERBE, Jn—
SOVEIMRE SR STV, BRE S E 17 — S LRSS OB 213 EIC X0 . AlRES
FEFE LT B — SV REIRESHICRE STV A EEBEEIERICEAT 207 - 77 o RO b5 2l
[RENDAEMERN D o7, 7 - 77 ROMAGERIL, 7o — SVERESIC X V0B CRE SN, L
Told o, 7a— S VEIRESADSHPEE I2IIBE LG E, 7 - 77 ROBEIIDAIEB#R SN, UL,
BT e Ty Rk, VT Ty ROBAICEAL, Ve — SLEHRE S, CMSEBIMETE S E7-1 (RIS St
BDRAT2) HRESAOGBHY 2271286 8T, Za— SLEIRESM, CMSEGBIHT 713 RIRE
SHEAFAT D) HRESHEPEEEIIBE LGS, Y7 - 77 NiE, 37 - 77 o ROBRSRAGICHEAL,
TS OFERO—RIEHEE & Al SIDRREMEN B o 72,

FEUEICRE Shb A — =) A bOBEEREIZ, B— b7+ U ACEESNSH. £HRIE%EHEFOER
LICBE L T BFICKIDNIRIZ2ED T, Sy vz - Avs—7-7ulJ 5 (LT TEIREES v v
Va s AU 4—T - TarlIh] L), ) OXRNBERDAEERH ST, BIBEX Y vy 2 s AT 4 —T
Tu 7T hE, S&PIu— 0t A—TFT 4 =Xt F T T 4 v FICED TA] DLEOERKBMFTEETHE
EFTHLAT B —N_—=T 4 (LT TEEEX vy v a c AU =T« A2 ——=FT 4] L9, ) IT
BOWTHRA SN 1 E IIEE O LRE NRICKFE S 2 RE T2 EREGEN TV, ZH8E T, BINEE
¥yrvova A= T TAORE, BIIEX Yy v a2 s AU =T « AT X — =T LI T D
HOHE—=IR—=T 4« T ARV ¥ —% DI EIRDIENCHETHIREThoTz, TEIEE] &I,
(1) EEHEPOYT « 77 U RIZXH b HASOZHE, bW (i) ZRE~ODERREB LU/ F2
OB DOHRE L OOl Sh B ER T 2 EE 09,

P77 7 BB LTV ARAEKESE 2 TR TRE LR E 2= "= o0 TIE, BEPREh,
L—F 4 —ZFEFES &P/ a— VLI K DR OB E 278k 5 - OIS D,

20244F 20234F
Aaa 33.77% 41.80%
Aal 13.62% 11.08%
Aa2 5.98% 13.39%
Aa3 20.99% 9.24%
Al 25.64% 24.49%

FTRCOBEBAMIELRIT. EARIC, S&PIZ/a— b« L—F 4V Z7HIC L DAIB L A2 5 NS A—
F Y= A RAF =R« F—E 2T L DPIB L UP22 G, O & DORRAHTHERIC & 5 i BAL >4
WAt T T2 — (7« BT Y —F TR RNEN 2 R TN T D AR H D, ) OWVThND
LD END,
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LIFORIZ, 97« 77 2 FBRET D AMGEFRORENE R 2 £ L TWD,

20244F 202348
Bl 22.95% 26.47%
av—x )b e NR—R— 76.13% 72.58%
&% 0.92% 0.95%

20244E12 31 AICHE T LTA4EEE 3 L UR0234E12 31 BT LB 0B EAMEEAEs 2260 (#8) 8137
N TR FHEEICR EEh T b,

5. EMITEAZ & 0HES

BAGESIL, CMSE 3B ORISR B ENRE SN TV AEAEIRE, 7 e — LRIRESMICRE S
nTW5, CMSIZ, BEZHBEIMEFELINMEET 2 — o E I3 EHORFAEE O EICHEZRET L 2 ENEEN
%, CMSOFER, A— b7+ U A IICMSEBIHEF LI L CEBIFHFI = AR —Vx —%H7 5, BliESKES
BIOEMESIT, FROFRM4SGEREIN TV D,

HT7 Ty o R, REAOK RAVEOERILESE R L ORMEESN KR CERIL SRS . KRS
EEBELO—DOTHDLE|HIROA— =T A b - THRY Y FREAMICEET D207 0 — SLEIRE RO
Fyrvia  vRXPAVN P —EBERACHRADL I L2 —EORESNZRATFTCTREL TS, Baid, BEF
PoHT - 7y v RO DERFEABEESINLIHGE. EREASNY Y - 77 FhbBRABEEIND
La. ERIEFEEDY T - 77 RO OAROEFE =FRX X =IO D HA, —FFNIZ, E-EHMOA
D AMEIRAE END,

DD TEAIT, THRTHERE OB R T 2 ERTEA R LN BEOBFERIRIC BT 2 ENITAZRT5 2
ERBHY | HHE, L LT END 2 EbBLR, ENHIZRESNDL DO TIER, Wh7RLIFBETH,
TG D BAHNTTRFE S LD BB K o THMDPEMITER D TTRIEHNIFES VA 21X, V7 - 77 ROBIEID
HOET200THD, TRTOHREIT, CMSIKHENRE SN TV HGEERE FERBES 72— LFEIR
BRIIRAE ST,

6. ARULEHE
20244F 20234F
b Az * Fv
7 7 v RZ SRR e EIAR N 4 33,032,865 9,758,294
33,032,865 9,758,294

7. RILES
20244F 20234E
Kk K X K
7 7 v RIS B R 12,450,348 1,861,552
HRELHEN (E9) 4,982,312 4,221,521
P e 1,899,880 1,866,536
P MAL SR AR A4 — 24,496,995
19,332,540 32,446,604
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8. HEFDZRASFDFRITBLOEREL

20244E 20234E
(P%) (B %)
BB RATH AR 239,690,946,760 204,697,088,543
FATZ IS LS 247,502,594,945 269,024,480,057
B RZ AR (227,104,602,172) (234,030,621,840)
HIRIATH AR AL 260,088,939,533 239,690,946,760

9. WAENE LU A

2024E6H30A £ T, BT - 7y r R, BHAHBIUOZHEStICK LT, A LTHT - 77 ROMEFE
FOFRI%EBARVEORINE b 7=, D ®EE A 2 384 L, SIEHERICERI VW SNz, SEREO
b EEEHSIC AN @mINL, B4 R4 LI EIc > X 2R3 h bz, BEEASL, RERENS
FRICKT D WEN A 3XHh 5, RITHE BB L OWGESHIE, E#EYHA— 7+ U A OEREBEE A b 8e
BOBRLEZ TS, 7 - 770 RidE, FHSMIIH L TCOOFREGEHOLRE LE LT,

202447 A 1B LARE, BERSAE, 7 - 77 v ROBENS, V7 - 77 v Rigxhd 2 A EB 0RO X
& LT, MEEMEADFESR0.0185%% FIRIC, KFEM B IZHE L ostE S, WEEICBA O S D Wi % %
JEDHERIZ AT 5,

20247 A1 H BARe, HESHHX, 7 - 77 U FOGENG, 7 - 77 0 NIZHT 2 EHFEEGORMED
KM & LT, M EMAEOFE0.0325% % EIRIC, &FFM B ICHAE Lo S, WEEEICBRIB W EN 5 H
%22 T D HEREZ R T 5, D02WECNZ, BEAMT, 7 - 77 ROBEND, FHAICKLbN
LERL O EZHET DN EET D,

20244E6 A30H £ T, ZEEEMHIE, Y7 - 772 b 7 a— L ERESEO®EN B L UNES 2 S T3 TR
BOHRLEZIT T,

20244E7T A1 A BARE, ZRERMIE, V7 - 77V ROBENS, V7 - 77 v ROBEOZIEEBKORMEE LT,
M FEMEEDEZR0.0175% % LIRS, &5 B IC3 4 Lo ot E S, TWREEIC %V S b Rt Gi i
BOGEE. WEBEET, ) EZTWMOIENEAT D, ZiESthiE, 7 - 77 NOBEN LB OIRE
ZHETHHEFEAET S,

20247 A1 H BARE, BMRESHIE, 7 - 77V ROBENDL, Y7 - 77 v NOGEDORIRE 35 O XHL &
LT, HWUEPEMAEDHESR035% % FIRIT, Fafffi B IZFA L o5tE Sh, TEHEICH I S D B S
EZITWMOMERNEAT D, BIRESHIT. 7 - 77 FOKENDXIEORKE 2 ZHET DR EHT 5, ¥
oo TRTOGHMNAR BT RIT 0 EMER Pk K ORI TR A Tk, BB SAETHE 2 & QNS ERE,
Wk, 7—Vx=, 777 VI VBIOHIBIZERIBBEBLICERZELN, ZUHIZRGNZRW, ) BT -
77 RhbXhbhs,

20244F7 A1 H BARE, itath, FAStB LORIRESHE, BINEFOEF, R ERALED LITERD
BE, 7« 77 FOZOMOY — b AEMHE OLE, RS Zitatt RIRESOA v 7 TOEE %
B HYT - 77 U ROZOMOY—EABEFOA I FMOEE, FHot Zitat FIRESoBEED
L BFEOET LTS HYT « 77 0 NOWMEDOET, £33V 7 - 77 U ROKTEELN, ZhHIZRS
WKL B N T, YEHHCTAE SN BIMOWIMZ2Z TR EME2ET 5,

20244F6 H30H £ T, HHAMIT, V7 - 77 U ROZBE LSS, HEERS, WEStE L OMRYT

B OHME K -T2,
20244FTH 1B DR, BEEASHIE, 7 - 77 ROBENDL, V7 - 77 > RICHHT 2 & EEHEG Ot
flie LT, MEEMAEOERLY% % RIS, FilBICRE Lo oftE S, WEHECHRI VSR EH
MR ZZ DR 2 BT 5, REEMStIT, 7 - 77 FOERBEMNL. HOOAHEMNRSIBHE O
HBRLUEZESES S, BEEHASMIE, 7 - 77 0 ROOZE LW G, BEEHSMICRT 5 G RM
EHOxMIIE LT, SEBEMStEOWMM EZSHA D,
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2024 F7THI1B K, BARICBITDIRFERIMIT, V7 - 77 v ROBENDL, EHHREESESBEEHOEM, 0
JENTOY T « 77 FOFHE, MAZOHFREES IO SIS % 2B 0%ME & LT, S EMEEDE
#0.4000% % ERRIC, SaFl B IZRAE Lo E S, WEEICHZLO S D IREHRIN & = A HEF 2 3
b, BARIZBITDWFEST, 7 - 77 ROBHERNG, ALOARBNRNIBEEAOILRE LA EESZ T 5,

20244R7H1H LA, HARICBT AT BIX, V7 - 77 ROEENDL, 7 - 77 v ROZIEFEFHO

(1 Y%7 @) MEEMEOAREE., BinhsE, WEREESEORFERESI~ORMEFLB LR IOIC
BT B EB O & LT, M EMEDOFZE0.1000% % LRI, K3 HICHA Lot S, [WEEIC
BININHRITHB#HMZ2Z TERAERZ 655, ARICBIZ2MITHEEIE. V7 - 77 v ROEHEH
b, BOOEENSIBREAOIR LA EEZT 5,

SEERBIEORLEMI, UTOLBY THD,

20244F 20234F

b W% b A%
58 T FH 730,057 653,160
B PR SR EN 224,482 192,808
(eS| 127,782 —
B R R 242,558 207,604
ZRER LN 120,875 103,819
R FE AN X O T2 B 3,276,407 2,867,266
B A 27,423 28,104
O OHRENF L OEH 232,728 168,760

4,982,312 4,221,521

10. F5EBIRAE I HS |

W OES|TA U LISMCFIERRE L OV R BB b EE Lo, BHEBNRITRML, Zitath, &
EEASE, BEBMSER L OlRESE / RITHEEIX. FRSI20O T THERBBRE TH DL LA Ednd, Y4
FERICRIERRE IS b - T, BRI R E FICBR ST\ 5, EERBEOH]EBMEE ~ DR
SHAIT, FEFLICBARE TV D,

FREITOAIFL— VT 7 OBELECHERLL T, S, SRt REERAS, 3 REAL LIS
N—T754t ( TEMREH) ) (k- THA UAEMME LT BENET T, MEYFHMEG| O L 51T
T&I, ZEBFBOREOFRIZHE > O TRITI 520, FHESMIE, ERIORLEEESNBGREE 0T
RTCOBRBNCHEAEIND Z ERMRINL70IC (CELINZFIECTIEA SN D) BUEOBTFE L, HEEH
WS ST BRI L ORBINZOBEBZESF L TND Z LR LT 5,

20244E12 31 BICHR T LTZAEE RO XA UAMEMMF O BB 5L B BUAE O % 35 5E5 I 8 9 5 UG FE D20% LA
LERRAETIEEROEIT24 20234 : 240) THDH, ZORFITIE, KAGERGEASEB KO =2UFIE LA
Vo AL U L—REEMRERRNE EN TV D, KRRESRMR ST, AARICBIT 2SSt TH 5.

11. HUEREDOHER

20244F 20234F 20224F

USRIV e R—hrT7x VA
MR CKk ML) 2,600,889,462 2,396,909,612 2,046,971,033
SASRESE (1) 260,088,939,533  239,690,946,760  204,697,088,543
L H Y72 0 g pEAmAS CK KoL) 0.01 0.01 0.01
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12. Bié

BUTIEB L OMEATICHE > T, # A4 USEMMEF 1%, 19974EMBIRE A E (SIEF) DOET394BICER SN L EE
BREL LCHEEMEE A L TWD, ¥4 USNEMME X, 2O EITF Y EZ L - A ATH L TT AN T
FOBEZBRELOND Z LN, Ll A USAEMME I TFEBISRER] BNEAE LSS, 7oL
TV ROBENHEEOND, BRI RFRITIT, ZHRE OSSO E L ITZRASFOMe, HiE, HA.
FEIED L < IXZASTEHFOBEAD HERRR L 7- Rl CRASTERZRA L QW2 bIZEL DT A VT RBIO B
WZRDBR LGSR EEND, TANT » FREKRER (197TFHABMEE (QUERF) DHET395DICHE S L
Do ) v ERET AT v FIEEEE TSR RAERICRE L7 A LT v NISEHE RS L TV a0z
B LTI, MBS EHIZOWTH A TAEMME ICBAIZAE LW, 2L, TREROEAIT, 19974
Bist et (WEFE) DAS Va2 — N 2BILE D ENEREAAVIEEREER, ¥4 VHEMME IZ X > TREFS
NRTFTT R BR0, XA VIHEMME BDZETHF v XL - 54 v Y88 L0 —RUFRIZIE, &E
ENEBLT AWRBAREE LN ENH Y, 2D DBEIEHF A VIAMEMME F 72135585 108 S,

13. V7 bh-aIvvaBE
Y7 T RiE, WL YT s asyva CBEDRE L TR,

14, HEEPROEBERHG
FROLERITIC & > CT20244F6 H 28 AT C/RGR &N T2 AR AE (SGTH) 1. TRAEH SN,
< 20244ETH LB TRV R AET 5 2 A THMEMM F OB L OTFEEHIBIT % X 0 3572 B
« LIRT&GR S N7 B ST DOFHLA F
EBEESNER— N7+ ) AICET 5B EER B OHI R
BT T NOFHERARICBITIDRFEELE LTI T T - 7 LTSRS A EMT 5 20ICSGT &R
7A@ A EIE, PRI TIC X > T20244E9 H 30 H A TR S iz,

15. %3EHELR
20244F12 A 31 H#£20254F4 H24 H £ TORNZ, H7 « 77 > RITEVT890,269,880K KL D AEFEFRNFAT S 41,
916,344,269k F/L DS IEFER DB VR S vz,
BEERE OAMBERNAKBINTCHETIE, MHEEH ETHAZERIN D ZOMOFEZIIFHEAE L
Mmool

16. MBSO AR
MEEE T, SHASAOBRRESICL Y. 202564024 R IR SNz,
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Q) REHFMFAMKE
ZA UIEMMEF
USK)V s R—b+ 7% U %

RERMIZHFAMER
20244F12 31 H

4 BIRA
EBRES
=2 NF U T (20234 : 4.13%)
Export Finance and Insurance Corp 4.62% 17-Jan-25 40,000,000
Export Finance and Insurance Corp 4.70% 03-Feb-25 30,000,000
Export Finance and Insurance Corp 4.48% 11-Mar-25 17,000,000
A —2 U T (20234 : 3.54%)
Republic of Austria 4.59% 27-Jan-25 50,000,000
AL E— (20234 : 0.00%)
Kingdom of Belgium 4.65% 18-Feb-25 50,000,000
1) & (20234 : 4.64%) -
7 4T v K (20234 : 3.28%)
Municipality Finance Plc 5.01% 07-Jan-25 35,000,000
Municipality Finance Plc 4.55% 12-Feb-25 25,000,000
Municipality Finance Plc 4.57% 20-Feb-25 30,000,000
Municipality Finance Plc 4.41% 24-Mar-25 30,000,000
75 VA (2023£F : 11.17%)
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.83% 06-Jan-25 100,000,000
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.56% 13-Feb-25 20,000,000
Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.70% 31-Jan-25 40,000,000
Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.60% 07-Feb-25 30,000,000
Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.70% 18-Feb-25 25,000,000
Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.59% 24-Mar-25 30,000,000
SNCF SA 4.69% 22-Jan-25 50,000,000
SNCF SA 4.46% 14-Feb-25 50,000,000
KA (20234 : 16.55%)
Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.55% 03-Feb-25 20,000,000
Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.59% 07-Feb-25 40,000,000
Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.61% 03-Mar-25 30,000,000
Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.43% 18-Mar-25 40,000,000
KFW 4.99% 07-Jan-25 30,000,000
KFW 4.64% 24-Jan-25 30,000,000
KFW 4.59% 25-Feb-25 30,000,000
KFW 4.62% 25-Feb-25 30,000,000
Landeskreditbk Baden-Wuertt Foerdbank 4.65% 24-Jan-25 30,000,000
Landeskreditbk Baden-Wuertt Foerdbank 4.53% 03-Mar-25 40,000,000
Landeskreditbk Baden-Wuertt Foerdbank 4.43% 28-Mar-25 30,000,000
Landwirtschaft Rentenbank 4.57% 06-Jan-25 30,000,000
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N TEAMER HIE PE
CKk F) e (%)
39,943,965 1.54
29,891,607 1.15
16,866,104 0.65
86,701,676 3.34
49,867,192 1.92
49,867,192 1.92
49,726,669 1.91
49,726,669 1.91
- 0.00
34,995,211 1.34
24,884,434 0.96
29,830,603 1.15
29,720,145 1.14
119,430,393 4.59
100,000,000 3.84
19,904,351 0.77
39,871,011 1.53
29,878,758 1.15
24,861,906 0.96
29,709,986 1.14
49,896,958 1.92
49,760,170 1.91
343,883,140 13.22
19,930,239 0.77
39,838,692 1.53
29,787,345 1.15
39,654,392 1.52
29,995,909 1.15
29,931,521 1.15
29,811,039 1.15
29,810,337 1.15
29,931,332 1.15
39,721,290 1.53
29,704,178 1.14
30,000,000 1.15



BB (i)

R4 (20234 : 16.55%) (Fix)
Landwirtschaft Rentenbank 4.44% 12-Feb-25
NRW Bank 4.45% 07-Apr-25
Nordrhein-Westfalen (Land) 4.60% 16-Apr-25

NI TNT (20235 : 1.23%)

Banque Et Caisse D'Epargne de L'et 4.58% 19-Mar-25
Banque Et Caisse D'Epargne de L'et 4.45% 14-Apr-25
Banque Et Caisse D'Epargne de L'et 4.41% 16-Apr-25

AT v (20234 : 1.03%)
Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten 4.55% 21-Mar-25
Nederlandse Waterschapsbank 4.56% 07-Apr-25

=a2—T—F 2 K (20234 : 2.89%)

New Zealand Government 4.75% 15-Jan-25
New Zealand Government 4.59% 19-Feb-25
New Zealand Government 4.58% 05-Mar-25

74V EY (20234 : 2.06%)
Asian Development Bank 4.63% 08-Jan-25

EBEHEEE (20234 : 13.71%)

Eurofima 4.60% 08-Jan-25

Eurofima 4.67% 29-Jan-25

Eurofima 4.59% 21-Feb-25

Eurofima 4.61% 27-Feb-25

Eurofima 4.54% 12-Mar-25

European Investment Bank 4.58% 24-Mar-25

European Investment Bank 4.60% 17-Apr-25
International Development Association 4.69% 03-Feb-25
International Development Association 4.66% 10-Feb-25
International Development Association 4.67% 13-Feb-25
International Development Association 4.61% 26-Feb-25

AT = —F 2 (20234F : 6.13%)
City of Gothenburg 4.55% 21-Mar-25
Kingdom of Sweden 4.50% 16-Jan-25

A XV R (20234 : 3.75%)
Bank of England 4.69% 09-Jan-25
Bank of England 4.73% 15-Jan-25

Bank of England 4.69% 21-Jan-25
Bank of England 4.56% 18-Feb-25

7 — R RIFIE (20234 : 0.16%)

BEBIEE AR (20234 : 74.27%)
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% BERA

30,000,000
30,000,000
23,600,000

30,000,000
50,000,000
50,000,000

30,000,000
50,000,000

45,000,000
40,000,000
35,000,000

50,000,000

10,000,000
30,000,000
30,000,000
25,000,000
30,000,000
25,000,000
35,000,000
30,000,000
30,000,000
10,000,000
30,000,000

50,000,000
50,000,000

30,000,000
30,000,000
35,000,000
25,000,000

INIEATR M PE
Ck Fv) e (%)
29,863,987 1.15
29,667,963 1.14
23,443,775 0.90
461,091,999 17.73
29,729,333 1.14
49,403,304 1.90
49,396,446 1.90
128,529,083 4.94
29,723,643 1.14
49,434,624 1.90
79,158,267 3.04
44,947,203 1.73
39,778,202 1.53
34,744,663 1.34
119,470,068 4.60
49,987,290 1.92
49,987,290 1.92
9,997,454 0.38
29,911,547 1.15
29,826,090 1.15
24,835,466 0.96
29,757,749 1.14
24,759,272 0.95
34,556,411 1.33
29,891,891 1.15
29,865,717 1.15
9,951,274 0.38
29,806,356 1.15
283,159,227 10.89
49,538,313 1.90
49,937,733 1.92
99,476,046 3.82
29,988,413 1.15
29,964,949 1.15
34,932,414 1.34
24,865,402 0.96
119,751,178 4.60
1,990,232,228 76.52
3,942,731 0.15
1,994,174,959 76.67




XA THEMME
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Acoss (Agence Central) 5.28% 11-Apr-24 115,000,000

Acoss (Agence Central) 5.28% 18-Apr-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.29% 28-May-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.28% 11-Jun-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.29% 18-Jun-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.27% 02-Jul-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.29% 05-Sep-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.96% 26-Sep-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.84% 03-Oct-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.82% 10-Oct-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.82% 17-Oct-24 115,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.81% 24-Oct-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.82% 31-Oct-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.60% 07-Nov-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.62% 14-Nov-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.58% 21-Nov-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.56% 29-Nov-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.59% 09-Dec-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.53% 16-Dec-24 120,000,000 —
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.43% 23-Dec-24 120,000,000 —

ERROFEZ, TANLT Ly RHREITICE > TEREIND, YEEFTOREFMEFOLBFHEELEXRT D, AF
1T, MEEFIZRT B ESAMEEEDO B0 2 F R LT\ A, FFRIT, WEREREESB L OWRRAERA &
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Assets

Cash including fixed deposits

Debtors

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Total assets

Equity
Unit Capital

Total equity

Liabilities

Creditors

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

U.S. DOLLAR PORTFOLIO

Statement of Financial Position
As at 315 December 2024

2024 2023

Notes USD USD
5 593,014,178 639,509,915
6 33,032,865 9,758,294
2,3,4 1,994,174,959 1,780,088,007
2,620,222,002 2,429,356,216
2,600,889,462 2,396,909,612
2,600,889,462 2,396,909,612

7 19,332,540 32,446,604
19,332,540 32,446,604
2,620,222,002 2,429,356,216

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

On behalf of SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Peter Callaghan

Date: 24% April 2025

Hiroyuki Takano
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U.S. DOLLAR PORTFOLIO

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31% December 2024

Income

Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Total income

Expenses

Investment Manager fees

Administration fees

AIFM fees

Sub-Custodian fees

Depositary fees

Distributors’ fees and Agent Security fees
Audit fees

Other fees and expenses

Total expenses

Total comprehensive income for year

Gains and losses arose solely from continuing operations.

There are no recognised gains and losses other than those shown in the Statement of

Comprehensive Income.

Notes

O O © O O O

2024 2023
USD USD
130,249,849 112,198,063
130,249,849 112,198,063
2,671,227 2,442,678
808,977 711,829
243,471 -
872,049 766,550
435,603 383,292
12,367,652 10,936,657
27,723 29,958
368,091 283,090
17,794,793 15,554,054
112,455,056 96,644,009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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U.S. DOLLAR PORTFOLIO

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31% December 2024

At 1%t January 2024

Total comprehensive income for year
Distribution

Equity Units issued

Equity Units redeemed

At 315t December 2024

At 1% January 2023

Total comprehensive income for year
Distribution

Equity Units issued

Equity Units redeemed

At 315t December 2023

Unit
Capital
US$

2,396,909,612

2,475,025,949
(2,271,046,099)

Unit
Premium
US$

Retained
Earnings
US$

112,455,056
(112,455,056)

Total
Equity
US$

2,396,909,612
112,455,056

(112,455,056)
2,475,025,949

(2,271,046,099)

2,600,889,462 . - 2,600,889,462
2,046,971,033 - - 2,046,971,033
- - 96,644,009 96,644,009

2,690,244,801
(2,340,306,222)

(96,644,009)

(96,644,009)
2,690,244,801
(2,340,306,222)

2,396,909,612

2,396,909,612

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024

GENERAL INFORMATION

Daiwa Gaika MMF (the “Fund”) was constituted as an Irish domiciled unit trust, by a trust
deed dated 5™ July 1996 as amended by supplemental dated 17% July 1996 and as amended
and restated on 21% January 2019. Effective 23 June 2006, the duration of the Fund was
extended for an indefinite period. The Fund is an umbrella unit trust organised under and
complying with the Unit Trusts Act, 1990. The Fund was approved by the Central Bank of
Ireland (the “Central Bank”) as a Retail Investor Alternative Investment Fund on 18% June
2015. On 215 January 2019, the requirements of the European Union Money Market Fund
Regulation (“MMFR”) came into force for the Fund. Accordingly, on 215 January 2019, the
sub-funds of the Fund were authorised by the Central Bank as Public Debt Constant Net
Asset Value Money Market Funds. The Fund was approved by the Central Bank as a Retail
Investor AIF CNAV MMF on 21% January 2019. A new Prospectus was approved by the
Central Bank dated 30™ September 2024.

An addendum to the Fund’s prospectus dated 8" March 2021 was noted by the Central

Bank to reflect the introduction of the Taxonomy Regulation in the European Union ("EU”).
For the purpose of the Taxonomy Regulation, it should be noted that the investments
underlying this financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for
environmentally sustainable economic activities.

On 23" December 2022, a second addendum to the Prospectus was issued to clarify that the
Investment Manager does not consider the principal adverse impacts of investment
decisions on sustainability factors for the Portfolios at financial product level within the
meaning of Article 7 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 27 November 2019 on sustainability-related disclosures in the financial services
sector (“SFDR”).

The Fund is an umbrella fund and may comprise several portfolios of assets, each a
“Portfolio”, in which Units representing one undivided share in the assets of a Portfolio are
issued. The Fund and each Portfolio may also be divided, to denote differing characteristics
attributable to particular Units, into “Classes”. The sole Portfolio in issue is the U.S. Dollar
Portfolio (the “Sub-Fund”). These financial statements relate solely to the Sub-Fund.

The Alternative Investment Fund Manager of the Fund is SMT Fund Services (Ireland)
Limited (the “AIFM”).

The primary activity of the Sub-Fund is to preserve principal value and maintain a high
degree of liquidity while providing current income by investing in high quality fixed and
floating rate debt instruments traded on a recognised exchange listed in the Trust Deed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted by the Sub-Fund are as follows:

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with the historical
cost convention, as adjusted for the revaluation of financial instruments held at fair value
through profit or loss and in compliance with Irish Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(accounting standards issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland” and Irish law) (“FRS 102”). The financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis of accounting.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that effect the application of policies and
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making judgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are summarised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Investments
This category has two sub-categories; financial assets and liabilities held for trading, and
those designated by management at fair value through profit or loss at inception.

The Sub-Fund classifies its investments in debt securities as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. Investments consist of short term debt obligations, which are valued
at fair value using an amortised cost technique (i.e. at their acquisition cost as adjusted for
the amortisation of premium or accretion of discount) as the best estimate of fair value. The
AIFM continuously reviews the amortised cost method to ensure that investments are stated
at their fair value.

Cash and other liquid assets are valued at their face value with coupon interest receivable
accrued, where applicable, to the end of the relevant day.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments (continued)
Under FRS 102, Fair Value Measurement, the Fund uses the recognition and measurement
provisions of International Accounting Standards 39, “Financial Instruments”.

Recognition/derecognition

Regular-way purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date — the date
on which the Fund commits to purchase or sell the investment. Investments are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or
the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Foreign Currencies

Assets and Liabilities are measured using the currency (the functional currency) of the
primary economic environment, in which the Sub-Fund operates, this is U.S. Dollar
(“USD”). Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into USD at
the exchange rates ruling at the year end date. Non-monetary foreign currency denominated
assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value are converted into the base currency at the
date the fair values are determined. Foreign currency gains or losses arising from trading
activities are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Sub-Fund’s unitholders are from Japan, with the subscriptions and redemptions of the
equity Units denominated in USD. The performance of the Sub-Fund is measured and
reported to the unitholders in USD. The AIFM considers the currency as the currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and
conditions of the Sub-Fund. The financial statements are presented in USD which is the
Sub-Fund’s functional and presentation currency.

Income

Interest income is accounted for on an effective yield basis. Discounts and premiums on
securities are amortised and accreted on the effective yield basis over the life of the
respective securities. These are presented as net gain on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Participating Units

The Sub-Fund issues equity Units, which are redeemable at the unitholders option and are
classified as equity in accordance with FRS 102 Section 22. The Net Asset Value (“NAV”)
per Unit is maintained at USDO0.01 through the declaration of distributions.

Should the equity units’ terms or conditions change such that they do not comply with the
strict criteria of FRS 102 Section 22, the equity Units would be reclassified to a financial
liability from the date the instrument ceases to meet the criteria. The financial liability
would be measured at the instrument’s fair value at the date of reclassification. Any
difference between the carrying value of the equity instrument and fair value of the liability
on the date of reclassification would be recognised in equity.

Equity Units can be put back into the Sub-Fund at any time for cash equal to a proportional
share of the Sub-Fund’s NAV. The equity Unit is carried at the redemption amount which is
payable at the year end date if the unitholder expressed the right to put the unit back in the
Sub-Fund.

Dividend Policy
The AIFM declares distributions in respect of the Sub-Fund on each dealing day. The
amount per unit distributed from the Sub-Fund is a sum equal to the amount required to

maintain the relevant NAV per unit on each dealing day to 0.01 units of the currency of the
Sub-Fund.

Cash Flow Statement

The Fund has availed of the exemption available to open ended investment funds under
FRS 102 Section 7.1 not to prepare a cash flow statement.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The table below shows financial instruments recognised at fair value, analysed between
those whose fair value is based on:

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)

(Level 2); and

those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs) (Level 3).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS(continued)

2024 2023
USD USD

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Debt obligations 1,990,232,228 1,776,370,687
Coupon interest receivable 3,942,731 3,717,320
1,994,174,959 1,780,088,007

All securities held by the Sub-Fund are classified as Level 2. There were no significant
transfers of assets between levels for the years ended 315 December 2024 and 2023.

Financial Assets and Liabilities not measured at Fair Value

The financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-
term financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value.
Cash including fixed deposits are categorised as Level 1 and all other financial assets and
liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss are categorised as Level 2 in the
fair value hierarchy.

INVESTMENTS

The main risks arising from the Sub-Fund’s financial instruments can be summarised as
follows:

Market Risk

Market risk arises from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments held. It
represents the potential loss the Sub-Fund might suffer through holding market positions in
the face of price movements. Market risk comprises three types of risk: price risk, currency
risk and interest rate risk.

Price Risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of the Sub-Fund’s financial instruments will fluctuate
as a result of changes in market prices caused by factors other than interest rates or foreign
currency movement. The financial instruments of the Sub-Fund are not exposed directly to
price risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

315t December 2024

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS (continued)

Market Risk (continued)
Currency Risk

Currency risk represents the potential losses that the Sub-Fund might suffer due to adverse
movements in non-functional currency exposures. All the investments of each Class are
denominated in the functional currency of the relevant Class with the effect that the
Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income will not be
significantly affected by currency movements.

Interest Rate Risk

The risk is defined as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The risk arises on financial instruments whose
fair value is affected by changes in interest rates.

The tables below and overleaf summarise the Sub-Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks at
the end of the year. They include the Sub-Fund’s assets and trading liabilities at fair value,

categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates:

2024

Assets

Cash including fixed deposits
Debtors

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Total assets

Liabilities

Creditors

Total liabilities

Total Interest Sensitivity Gap

Non -

Less than 1 1-3 4-6 interest
Month Months Months bearing Total
USD USD USD USD USD
593,014,178 - - - 593,014,178
- - - 33,032,865 33,032,865
718,042,833  1,040,229,603 235,902,523 - 1,994,174,959
1,311,057,011  1,040,229,603 235,902,523 33,032,865 2,620,222,002
- - - 19,332,540 19,332,540
- - - 19,332,540 19,332,540
1,311,057,011 1,040,229,603 235,902,523 N/A N/A
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

INVESTMENTS (continued)

Market Risk (continued)
Interest Rate Risk (continued)

Non -
Less than 1 1-3 4-6 interest
2023 Month Months Months bearing Total
USD USD USD USD USD
Assets
Cash including fixed deposits 639,509,915 - - - 639,509,915
Debtors - - - 9,758,294 9,758,294
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 600,449,567 995,277,203 184,361,237 - 1,780,088,007
Total assets 1,239,959,482 995,277,203 184,361,237 9,758,294  2,429,356,216
Liabilities
Creditors - - - 32,446,604 32,446,604
Total liabilities - - - 32,446,604 32,446,604
Total Interest Sensitivity Gap 1,239,959,482 995,277,203 184,361,237 N/A N/A

The benchmark rate for determining interest receipts for the floating rate investments is
based on SOFR (2023: LIBOR) for the Sub-Fund plus or minus specified basis points.

A weekly mark to market evaluation is carried out by the Investment Manager. Separately
from this test, the Investment Manager independently runs at least weekly mark to market
evaluations; this includes a stress test worked out against a yield curve change (currently the
Investment Manager sets a 50 and 100 basis points parallel interest curve rise).

The tables below show the percentage effect to the unit price where market rates move
between minus 50 basis points and plus 100 basis points:

2024 +100bps +50bps -25bps -50bps
USD Portfolio -0.11% -0.05% 0.03% 0.05%
2023 +100bps +50bps -25bps -50bps
USD Portfolio -0.11% -0.06% 0.03% 0.06%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

INVESTMENTS (continued)

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Sub-Fund may not be able to rapidly adjust
the size of its investment position in times of high volatility and financial stress at a
reasonable price. The Sub-Fund is invested in assets, which are realisable and overnight
cash balances of around 15% are normally retained, which are increased for known
outflows and during market disruption. The Investment Adviser contacts distributors on a
frequent basis in order to obtain information on potential sizable redemptions. In times of
market disruption realising assets may become more difficult, when this is observed it is
monitored and where necessary maturities are shortened and overnight cash is increased.

The AIFM shall establish, implement and consistently apply prudent and rigorous liquidity
management procedures for ensuring compliance with the weekly liquidity thresholds
applicable to the Sub-Fund. In ensuring compliance with the weekly liquidity thresholds,
where weekly maturing assets fall below (i) 30% of the NAV of the relevant Sub-Fund and
the net daily redemptions on a single dealing day exceed 10% or (ii) 10% of the Sub-Fund’s
NAYV, the AIFM shall be immediately informed and the AIFM shall undertake a
documented assessment to determine the appropriate course of action with regard to the
interests of the unitholders of that Sub-Fund to decide whether to apply one or more of the
measures permitted under the MMFR.

The liquidity risk table below analyses the Sub-Fund’s financial assets into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the year end date to the contractual
maturity date:

2024* 2023
Cash 22.95% 26.47%
2-7 days 5.03% 2.90%
8-30 days 21.06% 18.50%
31-90 days 41.81% 44.50%
91-180 days 9.15% 7.63%
181-365 days 0.00% 0.00%
Over 365 days 0.00% 0.00%

All financial liabilities are due within 1 month.

* Liquidity bucket percentages are based on number of days from the last fund business day
of the year, 30" December 2024.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

INVESTMENTS (continued)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is measured by the loss the Sub-Fund would incur if its counterparties failed to
perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund is
exposed to credit risk on parties with whom it trades and will also bear the risk of settlement
default. The Sub-Fund selects only established counterparties that have sufficient
experience, knowledge and creditworthiness. All transactions in listed securities are
settled/paid for upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered
minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment.
Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have been received by the broker. All of
the cash held on overnight deposit is held with a carefully selected list of banks. Bankruptcy
or insolvency by a bank may cause the Sub-Fund’s rights with respect to the cash held on
deposit to be delayed or limited. The Investment Manager monitors the credit rating of these
banks, as reported by S&P Global and Moody’s.

The Sub-Fund is also exposed to credit risk from term issuance invested in, resulting from a
borrower’s failure to meet their contractual obligations. There can be no assurance that
issuers of the securities or other instruments in which the Sub-Fund invests will not be
subject to credit difficulties leading to the loss of some or all of the sums invested in such
securities or instruments or payments due on such securities or instruments.

SMT Trustees (Ireland) Limited as Depositary has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank,
Limited (London Branch) as its sub-custodian (the “Sub-Custodian’). The Sub-Custodian is
the London branch of Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank Limited which has a Fitch credit rating
of A- at the year end (2023: A-). Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London Branch)
have, in turn, appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BBH & Co.”), as their global
sub-custodian (the “Global Sub-Custodian™). BBH & Co. has a Fitch credit rating of A+ at
the year end (2023: A+). The investments and cash of the Sub-Fund were held by the
Global Sub-Custodian at the year end, except where cash was placed in the Cash
Management Sweep (“CMS”). Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Sub-Custodian or Global
Sub-Custodian may have caused the Sub-Fund’s rights with respect to its investments in
debt securities held by the Sub-Custodian or Global Sub-Custodian to be delayed or limited.
The Sub-Fund’s securities were maintained by the Global Sub-Custodian in segregated
accounts. Thus in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Global Sub-Custodian, the
Sub-Fund’s assets were segregated. The Sub-Fund would, however, been exposed to the
credit risk of the Global Sub-Custodian, the CMS counterparties, or any depository used by
the Sub-Custodian, in relation to the Sub-Fund’s cash. In the event of the insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Global Sub-Custodian, any of the CMS counterparties, or any depository
used by the Sub-Custodian, the Sub-Fund would have been treated as a general creditor of
such entity in relation to cash holdings of the Sub-Fund.
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INVESTMENTS (continued)

Credit Risk (continued)

Any overnight cash balances held in the Collection Account (“Collection Account”),
including prior to being invested in a Portfolio or being paid out to unitholders in relation to
repurchases of units, may have been the subject of a cash sweep program (the “Collection
Account Cash Sweep Program”). The Collection Account Cash Sweep Program involved
placing such monies into one or more omnibus client accounts held with third party
counterparties which have a credit rating of ‘A’ or above at least by S&P Global, Moody’s
or Fitch (“Collection Account Cash Sweep Counterparties”). Unitholders should note that,
as a result of the Collection Account Cash Sweep Program, unitholders would have
counterparty exposure to the Collection Account Cash Sweep Counterparties. “Collection
Account” means the account operated by the AIFM which was used for (i) the receipt of
subscription monies from investors to the Sub-Fund, and (i1) repayment of redemption
and/or distribution proceeds to unitholders.

An investment universe which lists all the rating eligible securities that the Sub-Fund has
traded in is maintained and monitored to record ratings changes by Moody’s or S&P
Global:

2024 2023
Aaa 33.77% 41.80%
Aal 13.62% 11.08%
Aa2 5.98% 13.39%
Aa3 20.99% 9.24%
Al 25.64% 24.49%

At the time of purchase, all investments will be one of the two highest short-term rating
categories (within which there may be sub-categories or graduations indicating relative
standing) by one recognised rating agency, including A1 and A2 for S&P Global Ratings,
P1 and P2 for Moody’s Investor Services.

The table below shows the percentages of security type held by the Sub-Fund:

2024 2023
Cash 22.95% 26.47%
Commercial Paper 76.13% 72.58%
Bonds 0.92% 0.95%

All gains/(losses) from trading in investment for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

— 128 —



Notes to the Financial Statements
315 December 2024
(Continued)

CASH INCLUDING FIXED DEPOSITS

Cash balances are held with the Global Sub-Custodian except when placed in the CMS or
when placed on deposit with a separate credit institution. The CMS involves placing monies
into one or more omnibus client accounts held with third party counterparties. As a result of
the CMS a portfolio will have counterparty exposure to the CMS Counterparties. Cash
balances and fixed deposits are detailed in Note 4.

The Sub-Fund has agreed in certain limited circumstances to subscribe to the Global Sub-
Custodian’s Cash Management Service to invest available USD demand deposit balances
and uncommitted foreign currency denominated demand deposit balances in unrestricted
overnight deposit instruments in one of the approved financial institutions. Money is held in
these accounts temporarily and only for short periods when money is being wired from
investors to the Sub-Fund for contributions, when money for redemptions is being wired
from the Sub-Fund or when fees are being paid out of the Sub-Fund to recognised third
party vendors.

Such deposits may be subject to both sovereign actions in the jurisdiction of the deposit
institution and sovereign actions in the jurisdiction of the currency, including but not
limited to freeze, seizure, or diminution. In any case, the risk associated with the repayment
of principal and payment of interest on such instruments by the institution with whom the
deposit is ultimately placed will be exclusively for the Sub-Fund’s accounts. All cash was
held by the Global Sub-Custodian at the year end, except if placed in the CMS.

DEBTORS
2024 2023
USDh USD
Receivable for fund Units sold 33,032,865 9,758,294
33,032,865 9,758,294
CREDITORS
2024 2023
USD USD
Payable for fund Units repurchased 12,450,348 1,861,552
Fees payable (Note 9) 4,982,312 4,221,521
Distribution payable 1,899,880 1,866,536
Payable for investments purchased - 24,496,995
19,332,540 32,446,604
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UNITS ISSUED AND REDEEMED DURING THE YEAR

2024 2023
Opening Outstanding Units 239,690,946,760 204,697,088,543
Number of Units issued 247,502,594,945 269,024,480,057
Number of Units redeemed (227,104,602,172) (234,030,621,840)
Closing Outstanding Units 260,088,939,533 239,690,946,760

FEES AND EXPENSES

Up to 30" June 2024, the Sub-Fund paid a fee to the AIFM and the Depositary, the
aggregate of which was less than 1% per annum of the NAV of the Sub-Fund. This fee was
payable quarterly in arrears and was accrued on a daily basis, save in respect of that portion
of the AIFM’s fee which is payable to the Investment Manager, which portion of the fee
accrued daily and was payable twice per quarter. The Investment Manager remunerates the
Investment Adviser. The Agent Securities Company as well as the Distributors are
reimbursed their out-of-pocket expenses directly out of the administration expenses of the
relevant Portfolio. The Sub-Fund also reimbursed the AIFM all of its administration
expenses.

Effective 1% July 2024, the AIFM receives a fee in consideration of providing management
services to the Sub-Fund, payable out of the assets of the Sub-Fund at a maximum annual
rate of 0.0185% per annum of the NAV accrued and calculated on each valuation day and
payable quarterly in arrears.

Effective 1% July 2024, the AIFM receives a fee in consideration of providing
administration services to the Sub-Fund, payable out of the assets of the Sub-fund at a
maximum annual rate of 0.0325% per annum of the NAV accrued and calculated on each
valuation day and payable quarterly in arrears. In addition to its remuneration, the AIFM is
paid all of its administration expenses which is paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund.

Up to 30" June 2024, the Depositary was repaid its disbursements out of the Sub-Fund,
which included the fees and disbursements of the global sub-custodian.

Effective 1% July 2024, the Depositary receives a depositary fee, in consideration of trustee
services of the assets of the Sub-Fund (plus VAT if applicable), payable out of the assets of
the Sub-Fund, at a maximum annual rate of 0.0175% per annum of the NAV accrued and
calculated on each valuation day and payable quarterly in arrears. The Depositary is repaid
its disbursements out of the assets of the Sub-Fund.
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FEES AND EXPENSES (continued)

Effective 1% July 2024, the Sub-Custodian receives a sub-custody fee, in consideration of
sub-custody services of the assets of the Sub-Fund, payable out of the assets of the Sub-
Fund, at a maximum annual rate of 0.035% per annum of the NAV accrued and calculated
on each valuation day and payable quarterly in arrears. The Sub-Custodian is to be repaid
its disbursements out of the assets of the Sub-Fund. In addition, all reasonable out of pocket
expenses is payable by the Sub-Fund, including but not limited to banking maintenance fees
and interbank transfer fees, Sub-Custodian charges and telephone, letter, courier, facsimile
and printing costs and expenses.

Effective 1% July 2024, the Depositary, AIFM and Sub-Custodian receive additional fees to
be agreed between the parties in circumstances including, but not limited to the following:
additional work required, amendments to the Prospectus or the Trust Deed; changes of other
service providers to the Sub-Fund, changes to the AIFM or other service providers to the
Sub-Fund which necessitate changes to the infrastructure of the AIFM/Depositary/Sub-
Custodian; changes to the structure of the Sub-Fund which necessitate changes to
documents or the operations of the AIFM/ Depositary/Sub-Custodian; and termination of
the Sub-Fund.

Up to 30" June 2024, the AIFM paid out of the fees received by it from the Sub-Fund, the
fees of the Investment Manager, the Distributor and the Agent Company.

Effective 1% July 2024, the Investment Manager receives an investment management fee, in
consideration of investment management services to the Sub-Fund, payable out of the assets
of the Sub-Fund, at an annual maximum rate of 0.15% per annum of the NAV accrued and
calculated on each valuation day and payable quarterly in arrears. The Investment Manager
is reimbursed their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses directly out of the administration
expenses of the Sub-Fund. The Investment Manager pays out of the fees received by it from
the Sub-Fund the fees of the Investment Adviser, in consideration of the investment
advisory services to the Investment Manager.

Effective 1% July 2024, the Distributors in Japan receive a distribution fee, payable out of
the assets of the Sub-Fund, at an annual maximum rate of 0.4000% per annum of the NAV
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and payable quarterly in arrears, in
consideration of delivery of performance report and other documents, safe keeping of Units
in each investor’s account, provision of investment information and any other incident
services. The Distributors in Japan are reimbursed their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses
directly out of the administration expenses of the Sub-Fund.
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FEES AND EXPENSES (continued)

Effective 15" July 2024, the Agent Company in Japan is entitled to an agent company fee,
payable out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, at an annual maximum rate of 0.1000% per
annum of the NAV accrued and calculated on each valuation day and payable quarterly in
arrears, in consideration of publishing the NAV per Unit of the Sub-Fund, distributing the
prospectus and the financial reports to sales handling companies and any incidental services
thereto. The Agent Company in Japan will be reimbursed their reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses directly out of the administration expenses of the Sub-Fund.

Fees payable at the year end are as follows:

2024 2023

USD USD

Investment Manager fees 730,057 653,160
Administration fees 224,482 192,808
AIFM fees 127,782 -
Sub-Custodian fees 242,558 207,604
Depositary fees 120,875 103,819
Distributors’ fees and Agent Securities fees 3,276,407 2,867,266
Audit fees 27,423 28,104
Other fees and expenses 232,728 168,760
4,982,312 4,221,521

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Administrator, Depositary, Investment Manager, Investment Adviser and
Distributor/Agent Company are deemed to be related parties under FRS 102. Fees incurred
with related parties during the year are disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. Amounts payable to related parties at the year end are disclosed in Note 9.

In accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank AIF Rulebook, all transactions
carried out with the Fund by the AIFM, Depositary and Investment Manager or by delegates
or group companies (“‘connected parties”’) must be carried out as if negotiated at arm’s
length and be in the best interests of unitholders. The AIFM is satisfied that there are
arrangements in place (evidenced by written procedures) to ensure that the obligations set
out above are applied to all transactions with connected parties and transactions with
connected parties entered into during the year complied with the obligations.

The number of investors that held more than 20% of the Net Assets attributable to equity
Units at trading valuation of the Fund at the year ended 3 1% December 2024 is 2 (2023: 2).
Included in this number is Daiwa Securities Co. Limited and Mitsubishi UFJ Morgan
Stanley Securities Co., Ltd. Daiwa Securities Co. Limited is the Fund’s Distributor in Japan.
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NAYV HISTORY

2024 2023 2022
USD Portfolio
NAV USD2,600,889,462 USD2,396,909,612 USD2,046,971,033
Number of Units 260,088,939,533 239,690,946,760 204,697,088,543
NAYV per Unit USDO.01 USD0.01 USDO.01
TAXATION

Under current law and practice, the Fund qualifies as an investment undertaking as defined
in Section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, as amended. The Fund is not
chargeable to Irish tax on its income or capital gains. However, Irish tax can arise on the
happening of a “chargeable event” in the Fund. A chargeable event includes any
distribution payments to unitholders or any encashment, redemption, cancellation or
transfer of units and any deemed disposal of units for Irish tax purposes arising as a result of
the holding of the units at the end of each eight year period beginning with the acquisition
of such units. No tax will arise in respect of chargeable events in respect of a unitholder
who is an exempt Irish investor (as outlined in Section 739D of the Taxes Consolidation
Act, 1997, (as amended) or who is neither Irish resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland
for tax purposes at the time of the chargeable event, provided, in each case, that an
appropriate valid declaration in accordance with Schedule 2B of the Taxes Consolidation
Act, 1997 (as amended) is held by the Fund. Capital gains, dividends and coupon interest
received by the Fund may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin
and such taxes may not be recoverable by the Fund or its unitholders.

SOFT COMMISSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Sub-Fund does not have any soft commission arrangements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR

An updated Prospectus was approved by the Central Bank on 28™ June 2024 to;
provide more granular detail on the fees and expenses of the Fund effective 1% July
2024;
incorporate the previously approved addendums into the Prospectus; and
remove references and appendices related to terminated portfolios.

An updated Prospectus was approved by the Central Bank on 30™ September 2024 to

facilitate the appointment of a new Distributor, Retela Crea Securities Co., Ltd, to the Sub-
Fund.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to 315t December 2024 and up to 24™ April 2025 there were subscriptions of

USD890,269,880 into the Sub-Fund and redemptions of USD916,344,269 from the Sub-
Fund.

There were no other events subsequent to the year end to the date the financial statements
were approved, which require disclosure in the financial statements.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Board of the AIFM on 24" April 2025.
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U.S. DOLLAR PORTFOLIO

Schedule of Investments

315t December 2024

Debt Obligations

Australia (2023: 4.13%)

Export Finance and Insurance Corp 4.62% 17-Jan-25
Export Finance and Insurance Corp 4.70% 03-Feb-25
Export Finance and Insurance Corp 4.48% 11-Mar-25

Austria (2023: 3.54%)
Republic of Austria 4.59% 27-Jan-25

Belgium (2023: 0.00%)
Kingdom of Belgium 4.65% 18-Feb-25

Canada (2023: 4.64%)

Finland (2023: 3.28%)

Municipality Finance Plc 5.01% 07-Jan-25

Municipality Finance Plc 4.55% 12-Feb-25
Municipality Finance Plc 4.57% 20-Feb-25
Municipality Finance Plc 4.41% 24-Mar-25

France (2023: 11.17%)

Acoss (Agence Central) 4.83% 06-Jan-25

Acoss (Agence Central) 4.56% 13-Feb-25

Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.70% 31-Jan-25

Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.60% 07-Feb-25
Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.70% 18-Feb-25
Caisse Des Depos Et Consignations 4.59% 24-Mar-25
SNCF SA 4.69% 22-Jan-25

SNCF SA 4.46% 14-Feb-25

Germany (2023: 16.55%)

Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.55% 03-Feb-25
Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.59% 07-Feb-25
Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.61% 03-Mar-25
Erste Abwicklungsanst 4.43% 18-Mar-25
KFW 4.99% 07-Jan-25

KFW 4.64% 24-Jan-25

KFW 4.59% 25-Feb-25

KFW 4.62% 25-Feb-25
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Nominal
Holding

40,000,000
30,000,000
17,000,000

50,000,000

50,000,000

35,000,000
25,000,000
30,000,000
30,000,000

100,000,000
20,000,000
40,000,000
30,000,000
25,000,000
30,000,000
50,000,000
50,000,000

20,000,000
40,000,000
30,000,000
40,000,000
30,000,000
30,000,000
30,000,000
30,000,000

Fair
Value % of
USD NAV
39,943,965 1.54
29,891,607 1.15
16,866,104 0.65
86,701,676 3.34
49,867,192 1.92
49,867,192 1.92
49,726,669 1.91
49,726,669 1.91
- 0.00
34,995,211 1.34
24,884,434 0.96
29,830,603 1.15
29,720,145 1.14
119,430,393 4.59
100,000,000 3.84
19,904,351 0.77
39,871,011 1.53
29,878,758 1.15
24,861,906 0.96
29,709,986 1.14
49,896,958 1.92
49,760,170 1.91
343,883,140 13.22
19,930,239 0.77
39,838,692 1.53
29,787,345 1.15
39,654,392 1.52
29,995,909 1.15
29,931,521 1.15
29,811,039 1.15
29,810,337 1.15



U.S. DOLLAR PORTFOLIO

Schedule of Investments

315 December 2024
(Continued)
Fair
Nominal Value % of
Debt Obligations (continued) Holding USD NAV
Germany (2023: 16.55%) (continued)
Landeskreditbk Baden-Wuertt Foerdbank 4.65% 24-Jan-25 30,000,000 29,931,332 1.15
Landeskreditbk Baden-Wuertt Foerdbank 4.53% 03-Mar-25 40,000,000 39,721,290 1.53
Landeskreditbk Baden-Wuertt Foerdbank 4.43% 28-Mar-25 30,000,000 29,704,178 1.14
Landwirtschaft Rentenbank 4.57% 06-Jan-25 30,000,000 30,000,000 1.15
Landwirtschaft Rentenbank 4.44% 12-Feb-25 30,000,000 29,863,987 1.15
NRW Bank 4.45% 07-Apr-25 30,000,000 29,667,963 1.14
Nordrhein-Westfalen (Land) 4.60% 16-Apr-25 23,600,000 23,443,775 0.90
461,091,999 17.73
Luxembourg (2023: 1.23%)
Banque Et Caisse D'Epargne de L'et 4.58% 19-Mar-25 30,000,000 29,729,333 1.14
Banque Et Caisse D'Epargne de L'et 4.45% 14-Apr-25 50,000,000 49,403,304 1.90
Banque Et Caisse D'Epargne de L'et 4.41% 16-Apr-25 50,000,000 49,396,446 1.90
128,529,083 4.94
Netherlands (2023: 1.03%)
Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten 4.55% 21-Mar-25 30,000,000 29,723,643 1.14
Nederlandse Waterschapsbank 4.56% 07-Apr-25 50,000,000 49,434,624 1.90
79,158,267 3.04
New Zealand (2023: 2.89%)
New Zealand Government 4.75% 15-Jan-25 45,000,000 44,947,203 1.73
New Zealand Government 4.59% 19-Feb-25 40,000,000 39,778,202 1.53
New Zealand Government 4.58% 05-Mar-25 35,000,000 34,744,663 1.34
119,470,068 4.60
Philippines (2023: 2.06%)
Asian Development Bank 4.63% 08-Jan-25 50,000,000 49,987,290 1.92
49,987,290 1.92
Supranational (2023: 13.71%)
Eurofima 4.60% 08-Jan-25 10,000,000 9,997,454 0.38
Eurofima 4.67% 29-Jan-25 30,000,000 29,911,547 1.15
Eurofima 4.59% 21-Feb-25 30,000,000 29,826,090 1.15
Eurofima 4.61% 27-Feb-25 25,000,000 24,835,466 0.96
Eurofima 4.54% 12-Mar-25 30,000,000 29,757,749 1.14
European Investment Bank 4.58% 24-Mar-25 25,000,000 24,759,272 0.95
European Investment Bank 4.60% 17-Apr-25 35,000,000 34,556,411 1.33
International Development Association 4.69% 03-Feb-25 30,000,000 29,891,891 1.15
International Development Association 4.66% 10-Feb-25 30,000,000 29,865,717 1.15
International Development Association 4.67% 13-Feb-25 10,000,000 9,951,274 0.38
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U.S. DOLLAR PORTFOLIO

Schedule of Investments

31% December 2024
(Continued)
Fair
Nominal Value % of
Debt Obligations (continued) Holding USD NAV
Supranational (2023: 13.71%) (continued)
International Development Association 4.61% 26-Feb-25 30,000,000 29,806,356 1.15
283,159,227 10.89
Sweden (2023: 6.13%)
City of Gothenburg 4.55% 21-Mar-25 50,000,000 49,538,313 1.90
Kingdom of Sweden 4.50% 16-Jan-25 50,000,000 49,937,733 1.92
99,476,046 3.82
United Kingdom (2023: 3.75%)
Bank of England 4.69% 09-Jan-25 30,000,000 29,988,413 1.15
Bank of England 4.73% 15-Jan-25 30,000,000 29,964,949 1.15
Bank of England 4.69% 21-Jan-25 35,000,000 34,932,414 1.34
Bank of England 4.56% 18-Feb-25 25,000,000 24,865,402 0.96
119,751,178 4.60
Debt Obligations 1,990,232,228 76.52
Coupon interest receivable (2023: 0.16%) 3,942,731 0.15
Total Debt Obligations (2023: 74.27%) 1,994,174,959 76.67

— 137 —



U.S. DOLLAR PORTFOLIO

Schedule of Portfolio Movements (Unaudited)

31% December 2024

Acquisitions Disposals

Nominal Nominal

Acoss (Agence Central) 5.28% 11-Apr-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.28% 18-Apr-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.29% 28-May-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.28% 11-Jun-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.29% 18-Jun-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.27% 02-Jul-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 5.29% 05-Sep-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.96% 26-Sep-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.84% 03-Oct-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.82% 10-Oct-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.82% 17-Oct-24 115,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.81% 24-Oct-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.82% 31-Oct-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.60% 07-Nov-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.62% 14-Nov-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.58% 21-Nov-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.56% 29-Nov-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.59% 09-Dec-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.53% 16-Dec-24 120,000,000 -
Acoss (Agence Central) 4.43% 23-Dec-24 120,000,000 -

The above represents the statement of changes in the composition of the portfolio during the year,
as required by the Central Bank of Ireland. This shows the largest 20 acquisitions in the year. It

is not intended to provide a reconciliation between holdings at the beginning of the year and
holdings at the end of the year.

Note: There were no disposals of investments in the year. All investments mature in the normal
course of business.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of SMT Fund Services (Ireland)
Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (‘the Company’) for the
year ended 30 September 2024 set out on pages 10 to 34, which comprise the Income Statement, the
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Equity and related notes, including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in
note 1.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law and FRS 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland issued in the United Kingdom
by the Financial Reporting Council.

In our opinion:

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of
the Company as at 30 September 2024 and of its profit for the year then ended;

- the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

- the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in
Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority
(IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in
the relevant sections of this report.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the Members of SMT Fund Services (Ireland)
Limited (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)
Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the
financial statements. The other information comprises the information included in the directors’ report,
directors and other information and statement of directors responsibilities. The financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon do not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Based solely on our work on the other information undertaken during the course of the audit, we report
that:

- we have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report;

- in our opinion, the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial
statements; and

- inour opinion, the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2014.

Our opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014 are unmodified

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of
our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to
be readily and properly audited and the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting
records.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’
remuneration and transactions required by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 6, the directors are
responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the Members of SMT Fund Services (Ireland)
Limited (continued)

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use (continued)
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on IAASA’s website at
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-
statements/.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Zm (v(l 30 January 2025

Karen Conbqgy

for and on behalf of KPMG

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Harbourmaster Place

IFSC

Dublin 1
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Statement of financial position
as at 30 September 2024

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible fixed assets

Current assets

Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand
Current asset investments

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Additional paid in capital
Cash flow hedge reserve
Profit and loss account

Total shareholders’ funds

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of financial position.

On behalf of the board
DocuSigned by: DocuSlgned by:
Keiji Nakbamvra E
7845AA5E08E9490... F575EF13E076466
Director Director
Keiji Nakamura Peter Callaghan

Note

10
10

11

12
13
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30 September
2024
€

8,063,857
339,772
8,403,629
14,676,533
15,853,150
22,983,209
53,512,892

(6,002,036)

47,510,856

55,914,485

62,992,338
4,050,000
(112,689)

(11,015,164)

55,914,485

30 September
2023

€

6,581,908
607,807

7,189,715
14,591,653
15,007,966
22,200,200
51,799,819

(5,006,094)

46,793,725

53,983,440

62,992,338
4,050,000
212,328
(13,271,226)

53,983,440

29 January 2025



SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Income statement
for the year ended 30 September 2024

Note
Turnover 3
Administrative expenses 4
Profit on ordinary activities before interest and
taxation
Interest income
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 5
Taxation on ordinary activities 6

Profit for the year

All results have been generated by continuing operations.

30 September
2024
€

40,556,166

(37,897,411)

2,658,755

1,186,138

3,844,893

(1,588,831)

2,256,062

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this income statement.
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30 September
2023
€

38,906,748

(36,887,230)

2,019,518

584,573

2,604,091

(300,029)

2,304,062



SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Statement of other comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 September 2024

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Effective portion of changes in fair value of

cash flow hedges

Income tax on other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of income tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Note

19

30 September
2024
€

2,256,062

(371,448)

46,431

(325,017)

1,931,045

30 September
2023
€

2,304,062

274,862

(34,358)

240,504

2,544,566

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of other comprehensive income.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 September 2024

Called up Additional Cash flow Profit and Total
share paid in hedging loss account equity
capital Capital reserve
€ € € € €
Balance at 1 October 2023 62,992,338 4,050,000 212,328  (13,271,226) 53,983,440
Total comprehensive income for
the period
Profit for the year - - - 2,256,062 2,256,062
Other comprehensive income for the
period - - (325,017) - (325,017)
Total comprehensive income for the
period - - (325,017) 2,256,062 1,931,045
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Issuance of Shares - - - - -
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners - - - - -
Balance at 30 September 2024 62,992,338 4,050,000 (112,689) (11,015,164) 55,914,485
Calledup Additional  Cash flow Profit and Total
share paid in hedging  loss account equity
capital Capital reserve
€ € € € €
Balance at 1 October 2022 62,992,338 4,050,000 (28,176)  (15,575,288) 51,438,874
Total comprehensive income for the
period
Profit for the year - - - 2,304,062 2,304,062
Other comprehensive income for the
period - - 240,504 - 240,504
Total comprehensive income for the
period - - 240,504 2,304,062 2,544,566
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Issuance of Shares - - - - -
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners - - - - -
Balance at 30 September 2023 62,992,338 4,050,000 212328 (13,271,226) 53,983,440
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024

1

Accounting Policies

SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Company”) with a registered office at Block 5,
Harcourt Centre, Harcourt Road, Dublin 2, is a private company limited by shares and
incorporated and domiciled in Ireland.

The functional and presentation currency of these financial statements is Euro.

The Company’s immediate parent undertaking, Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited
includes the Company in its consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements of Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited are available to the public and may be
obtained from Block 5, Harcourt Centre, Harcourt Road, Dublin 2, Ireland.

In these financial statements, the Company is considered to be a qualifying entity (for the
purposes of this FRS) and has applied the exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect of the
following disclosures:
e Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding from the beginning to end of the
period;
e Cash Flow Statement and related notes; and
e Key Management Personnel compensation.

As the consolidated financial statements of the Company’s ultimate parent, Sumitomo Mitsui
Trust Group Inc. include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptions
under FRS 102 available in respect of the following disclosures:
e (Certain disclosures required by FRS 102.26 Share Based Payments; and,
e The disclosures required by FRS 102.11 Basic Financial Instruments and FRS 102.12
Other Financial Instrument Issues in respect of financial instruments not falling within
the fair value accounting rules of Schedule 3, paragraph 39 of the Companies Act 2014.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently
to all periods presented in these financial statements.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

1

Accounting Policies — (continued)
The principal accounting policies adopted by the Company are as follows:
Basis of Preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102
(“’FRS 102’’) The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland
and issued by the Financial Reporting Council, and promulgated for use in Ireland by Chartered
Accountants Ireland. The Company is also subject to the requirements of the Companies Act
2014.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the modification
to a fair value basis for certain financial instruments as specified in the accounting policies
below.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expense (e.g. useful economic life). The most significant estimates and
judgements relate to the recoverability of deferred tax asset which is assessed on an annual basis
by directors (see note 9), the amortisation period for intangible assets which is assessed on an
annual basis by directors (see note 1 "Intangible assets") and the determination of the functional
currency of the Company (see note 1 "Functional currencies").

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the periods in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Interest income and interest expense

Interest income and income expense are recognised in the income statement on an accruals basis.
Turnover and Administration Expenses

Turnover comprises fee income from administration and management services, which is
accounted for on an accruals basis. It also includes income earned from the recharge of services

to other group companies. Turnover and administration expenses are shown exclusive of amounts
paid to other service providers. All amounts are charged at normal commercial rates.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

1  Accounting Policies — (continued)
Foreign Currencies

The financial statements are expressed in Euro (€), which is the functional and presentation currency
of the Company.

"Functional currency" is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company
operates. If indicators of the primary economic environment are mixed, then management uses its
judgement to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect
of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The Company's turnover is earned in EUR, US
dollars (USD), sterling (GBP) and Japanese Yen (JPY). The share capital of the Company was issued
and settled in GBP. The expenses are dominated and paid mostly in EUR. Accordingly, management
has determined that the functional currency of the Company is EUR.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are

translated at rates which approximate the rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies which are measured at fair
value, are translated into euro at the date the fair value was determined.

Share capital is translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of its issue.

Profits and losses arising from currency translation and on settlement of amounts receivable and
payable in foreign currencies are dealt with in the income statement.

Basic Financial Instruments

Trade and other debtors / creditors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at transaction price plus attributable transaction
costs. Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at transaction price less attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses in the case of trade debtors.

Cash and current asset investments

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand and are recorded at amortised cost. Callable deposits
and term deposits are recorded at amortised cost.

Operating Leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement account on a straight
line basis over the term of the lease.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

1

Accounting Policies — (continued)
Other financial instruments

Financial instruments not considered to be Basic financial instruments (Other financial
instruments)

Other financial instruments not meeting the definition of Basic Financial Instruments are
recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition other financial instruments are
measured at fair value with changes recognised in the income statement except as follows:

- investments in equity instruments that are not publicly traded and whose fair value cannot
otherwise be measured reliably shall be measured at cost less impairment; and

- hedging instruments in a designated hedging relationship shall be recognised as set out below.
Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement
to fair value is recognised immediately in the income statement. However, where derivatives
qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the
item being hedged (see below).

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are used to cover the Company’s exposure to variability in cash flows that is
attributable to particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment
which could affect income or expenses. Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a
hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast
transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is
recognised directly in Other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Any ineffective portion of the hedge
is recognised immediately in the income statement.

For cash flow hedges, where the forecast transactions resulted in the recognition of a non-financial
asset or non-financial liability, the hedging gain or loss recognised in OCI is included in the initial
cost or other carrying amount of the asset or liability. Alternatively when the hedged item is
recognised in the income statement the hedging gain or loss is reclassified to the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity discontinues
designation of the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur,
the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the
above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take
place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income
statement immediately.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

1

Accounting Policies — (continued)
Taxation

Tax on the income statement for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in
the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or
other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the inclusion of income and
expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the
financial statements. The following timing differences are not provided for: differences between
accumulated depreciation and tax allowances for the cost of a fixed asset if and when all conditions
for retaining the tax allowances have been met, to the extent that it is not probable that they will
reverse in the foreseeable future and the reporting entity is able to control the reversal of the timing
difference. Deferred tax is not recognised on permanent differences arising because certain types
of income or expense are non-taxable or are disallowable for tax or because certain tax charges or
allowances are greater or smaller than the corresponding income or expense.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the reversal of the related
difference, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
balances are not discounted.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that is it
probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future

taxable profits.

A deferred tax asset is recorded where it is more likely than not to be recoverable. The
recoverability of deferred tax assets is assessed annually by the directors.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

1  Accounting Policies — (continued)
Intangible assets

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the income statement as an expense as
incurred.

Expenditure on development activities may be capitalised if the product or process is technically
and commercially feasible and the Company intends and has the technical ability and sufficient
resources to complete development, future economic benefits are probable and if the Company
can measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Development activities involve the design, construction or testing of the production of new or
substantially improved products or processes. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads and capitalised borrowing
costs. Other development expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense as
incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged in equal instalments on the cost of assets over their
expected useful lives and is included within administration costs.

Useful life
Software 7 years

Asset values are closely monitored and are subject to provisions for impairment where necessary.
Assets in the course of development are not amortised until they are brought into use.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is charged in equal
instalments on the cost of assets over their expected useful lives and is included within
administration costs.

Useful life
Furniture and equipment 5 years
Software 3 years
Mainframe Equipment 3 years
Personal Computers 2 years
Computer Terminals 3 years
Fund administration system 3 years

Asset values are closely monitored and are subject to provisions for impairment where
necessary.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

1

Accounting Policies — (continued)
Employee benefits

The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for employees. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income
statement when they are due.

Additional paid in capital

Subordinated Loans of €4.05 million previously received from the Company’s parent, that are non-
interest bearing and repayable at the Company’s discretion, were reclassified as capital during 2013,
after a review of their terms and conditions, and the receipt during 2013 of confirmation from the
Company’s parent and that these amounts are repayable solely at the volition of the Company and
that the Company’s parent will not demand repayment of these amounts.

Ownership and operations

The Company, which is engaged in the provision of administration and management company
services to various funds, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland)
Limited, a company incorporated in the Republic of Ireland. The ultimate parent company is
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Group Inc. a company incorporated in Japan.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, and it is the intention of the
directors to continue to develop the activities of the Company in consultation with its intermediate
parent company. Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank Limited is directly supporting the business
development of the Company.

The Company has entered into agreements with various entities to which it provides services.

Under these agreements, the Company has undertaken to provide administration and management
company services for an agreed fee.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes

Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

3 Turnover
Turnover is from the provision of administration and management related services to various funds,
and all fee income is earned in Ireland.

4 Administrative expenses

30 September

30 September

2024 2023

€ €

Staff costs 22,903,985 21,544,914
Other administrative expenses 14,993,426 15,342,316
37,897,411 36,887,230

30 September

30 September

2024 2023
€ €

Staff costs comprise:
Wages and salaries 17,398,883 15,965,434
Social welfare costs 2,033,659 1,821,982
Pension costs 1,280,653 1,130,512
Other costs 2,190,790 2,626,986
22,903,985 21,544,914

The average number of persons employed by the Company (including directors) during the
year was 223 (September 2023: 218). The Company shared the use of facilities with SMT
Trustees (Ireland) Limited (“SMTTIL”) during the period. The related costs were allocated
and recharged on an agreed basis, as set out in service level agreements.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

5 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

The profit on ordinary activities before taxation has been determined after charging the following:

30 September 30 September
2024 2023
€ €
Directors’ remuneration:
Fees 172,000 128,000
Other remuneration 1,222,154 925,808
Defined pension contribution scheme 29,345 62,404
Auditor’s remuneration:
Audit 47,430 46,500
Tax advisory services 24,473 6,155
Other assurance services 218,670 162,913
Other non-audit services - -
Depreciation 359,293 436,762
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,138,535 1,001,381
Operating lease rentals:
Land & buildings 976,811 957,257
Other assets 19,167 17,731
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)
6 Taxation on ordinary activities
30 September 30 September
2024 2023
€ €

(a) Total tax recognised in the income statement

Current tax
Current tax on income for the period 208,675 40,951
Under /(over) provision in respect of prior year - -

Deferred taxation
Under / (Over) provision in prior period - -
Origination and reversal of timing differences 1,380,156 259,078

Total tax expense 1,588,831 300,029

30 September 30 September

2024 2023
€ €

(b) Total tax recognised in OCI
Deferred tax (credit) / charge (46,431) 34,358

(¢) Tax reconciliation
30 September 30 September

2024 2023
€ €

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3,844,893 2,604,091
Corporation tax based on standard
rate at 12.5% (September 2023: 12.5%) 480,612 325,511
(Excess) / deficiency of depreciation over - -
capital allowances
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4,392) (45,957)
Differences arising from tax at the higher rate 104,337 20,475
Loss relief (utilised) / carried forward - -
Prior year adjustments - -
Impairment of Deferred Tax Asset 1,008,274 -
Total tax charge 1,588,831 300,029
Income tax on health insurance premiums 75,302 74,190

The Income tax on health insurance premiums is included in other costs as per note 4 above.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

6 Taxation on ordinary activities (continued)

BEPS Pillar Two

Any future adjustment to tax charges in relation to BEPS Pillar Two is being assessed by the parent
company Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited. The impact is assessed at group company level and
detailed qualitative disclosures will be available in the group financial statements that are publically
available. No quantitative disclosures are required for the current year.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes

Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

7 Intangible Fixed Assets

As at 30 September 2024

Cost

At 30 September 2023
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
At 30 September 2024

Amortisation

At 30 September 2023
Amortisation for the year
Disposals during the year
At 30 September 2024

Net book value at 30 September 2024

As at 30 September 2023

Cost
At 30 September 2022

Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
At 30 September 2023

Amortisation

At 30 September 2022
Amortisation for the year
Disposals during the year
At 30 September 2023

Net book value at 30 September 202

3

Software Total
€ €
16,181,169 16,181,169
2,620,484 2,620,484
18,801,653 18,801,653
9,599,261 9,599,261
1,138,535 1,138,535
10,737,796 10,737,796
8,063,857 8,063,857
Software Total

€ €
14,377,174 14,377,174
1,803,995 1,803,995
16,181,169 16,181,169
8,597,880 8,597,880
1,001,381 1,001,381
9,599,261 9,599,261
6,581,908 6,581,908

The intangible asset relating to the development of Advent Geneva and Paladyne as the

core fund administration system has been fully amortised.

The additions during the current period are related to the further development of the
core administration system, with the final migration phase currently taking place.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

8 Tangible Fixed Assets

As at 30 September 2024 Furniture & Software Computer Total
Equipment Equipment

€ € € €
Cost
At 30 September 2023 1,645,437 787,514 3,142,720 5,575,671
Additions during the year 14,330 - 76,928 91,258
Disposals during the year 3,019 (610,543) (1,164,523) (1,772,047)
At 30 September 2024 1,662,786 176,971 2,055,125 3,894,882
Depreciation
At 30 September 2023 1,413,747 772,457 2,781,660 4,967,864
Depreciation for the year 68,406 14,331 276,556 359,293
Disposals during the year 3,019 (610,543) (1,164,523)  (1,772,047)
At 30 September 2024 1,485,172 176,245 1,893,693 3,555,110
Net book value at 30
September 2024 177,614 726 161,432 339,772
As at 30 September 2023 Furniture & Software Computer Total

Equipment Equipment

€ € € €
Cost
At 30 September 2022 1,498,550 775,783 3,055,128 5,329,461
Additions during the year 146,887 11,731 87,592 246,210
Disposals during the year - - - -
At 30 September 2023 1,645,437 787,514 3,142,720 5,575,671
Depreciation
At 30 September 2022 1,336,543 736,628 2,457,931 4,531,102
Depreciation for the year 77,204 35,829 323,729 436,762
Disposals during the year - - - -
At 30 September 2023 1,413,747 772,457 2,781,660 4,967,864
Net book value at 30
September 2023 231,690 15,057 361,060 607,807
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

9  Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

30 September 30 September

2024 2023

€ €

Fee debtors 5,752,062 5,166,913
Prepayments and VAT recoveries 3,594,441 3,015,665
Other debtors 121,212 86,360
Short term asset on derivatives 113,447 352,810
Amount owed by related companies 3,452,572 3,063,540
Deferred tax 1,180,975 2,514,700
Interest Receivable 461,824 391,665
14,676,533 14,591,653

The deferred tax asset recorded above includes an impairment charge of €1,008,274 due to a reduction
in the forecast of future profitability of the company. The deferred tax asset recognised amount is
€1,250,000 (September 2023: €2,576,349) that relates to the recognition of unused tax losses. The net
reversal of the deferred tax asset expected to occur in the next reporting period is €436,922 due to the
on-going profitability of the company. The Company has a further unrecognised deferred tax asset of
€1,008,274 (September 2023: Nil) this has not been recognised due to the level of uncertainty over the
timing of its recovery.

The amount owed by the related companies includes a balance relating to services as outlined in the
management services agreement. The balance is unsecured and interest free and repayable on demand.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

10 Cash at bank and in hand and current asset investments

30 September 30 September
2024 2023
€ €
Cash at bank and in hand

Current accounts 4,926,343 4.411,799
Callable deposits 10,926,807 10,596,167
15,853,150 15,007,966
Current asset investment 22,983,209 22,200,200

Term deposits with credit institution
22,983,209 22,200,200

Callable deposits are repayable on demand. Deposits at credit institutions include term deposits with
maturities of less than one year.

11 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
30 September 30 September

2024 2023
€ €

Accruals 3,492,103 3,512,942
Corporation tax 168,836 40,123
Trade creditors 916,413 139,011
Short term liability on derivatives 214,980 82,895
Amount owed to parent 821,174 821,593
Amount owed to related companies 388,530 409,530
6,002,036 5,006,094

Accruals include creditors in relation to PAYE of €335,237 (2023: €340,313), PRSI of
€220,056 (2023: €216,706) and other taxes of €62,736 (2023: €64,994).

The amount owed to the parent company is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The amount owed to the related companies includes a balance relating to services as outlined
in the services agreement. The balance is unsecured and interest free and repayable on demand.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

12 Called up share capital

13

Authorised
400,000 ordinary shares of GBP £1 each

100,000,000 ordinary shares of EUR €1 each

Allotted, called up and fully paid
400,000 ordinary shares of GBP £1 each
62,500,000 ordinary shares of EUR €1 each

Additional paid in capital

Additional paid in capital

In connection with €4.05 million of the total amounts received to date by the Company under the
terms of the subordinated loan arrangements for the non-interest bearing loans, the Directors noted
the resolution made in September 2013 by Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited (the “Parent
Company”) that they would not demand repayment of the loans and that they are repayable solely
at the volition of the Company. Accordingly, as these amounts have now been confirmed as non-
repayable and do not bear interest or carry any other economic obligation they were re-classified on
the statement of financial position from long-term liabilities to capital, in order to better reflect the

capital nature of the transactions.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

14 Commitments

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

30 September 30 September

2024 2023
Land and Other Land and Other

buildings buildings
€ € € €

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 708,891 19,167 708,891 18,480
In the second to fifth years inclusive 614,898 18,480 1,323,789 36,960

Over five years - - - -

1,323,789 37,647 2,032,680 55,440

Under an agreement, the Company has undertaken to provide or procure company secretarial and
general administration and support services to SMT Trustees (Ireland) Limited and Sumitomo
Mitsui Trust Bank Limited (London Branch) a custody company based in the UK. In return, the
Companies have agreed that a fee will be paid for the services provided.

15 Pension costs

30 September 30 September

2024 2023

€ €

Pension charge for year 1,280,653 1,130,512
Pension charge payable at end of year 84,284 72,760

The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for its executive directors and
employees. During the prior year the retirement age was raised from 60 to 65 years of age.

16 Related parties

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Group Inc. whose
consolidated financial statements are publicly available. The Company is availing of the
exemption under Section 33 of FRS 102 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to not disclose
transactions with other group undertakings which would be eliminated on consolidation in the
financial statements of the group.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

17 Ultimate parent company

The Company’s immediate parent undertaking is Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited, a
company incorporated in Ireland. The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking is Sumitomo
Mitsui Trust Group Inc., a company incorporated in Japan. The largest group in which the
financial statements are consolidated is that headed by Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Group Inc.
Copies of the financial statements of Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Group Inc. are available to the
public and may be obtained from 1-4-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-8233, Japan.

The smallest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited. Copies of the financial statements of Sumitomo
Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited are available to the public and may be obtained from Block 5,
Harcourt Centre, Harcourt Road, Dublin 2, Ireland.

18 Post balance sheet events

On the 1°' October 2024, the ultimate parent company Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings Inc.
changed its name to Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Group Inc. There were no other post balance sheet
events which require amendment to or disclosure in the financial statements.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes

Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

19 Financial instruments — Hedge accounting

The following forward foreign currency contracts were open as at 30 September 2024.

Sell US Dollar
$2,400,000
Sell Japanese Yen

¥1,180,000,000

Sell British
Pounds
£2,900,000

Buy Euro

€2,160,667

€7,485,686

€3,353,170

Unrealised Unrealised Total
Gain (Loss) Unrealised

Gain /

(Loss)

€30,262 (€1,571) €28.,691
€83,185 (€118,437) (€35,252)

- (€94,972) (€94,972)

€113,447 (€214,980) (€101,533)

These cash flow hedges are placed with Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London
Branch) and will settle quarterly over the period 1 December 2024 — 30 September 2025.
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London Branch) provide an fx facility of USD $200
million to the company. The fair value on the open contracts was calculated using WM
Reuters forward fx rates. During the year a gain of €575,088 (2023: gain of €466,236) was
reclassified to the income statement, having previously been recorded in the statement of other

comprehensive income statement in accordance with the cash flow hedging policy. No

collateral exists for any derivative contracts.

Assets
Forward
currency
contracts
Total

Liabilities
Forward
currency
contracts
Total

Level 1
€

Level 2
€

€113,447

€113,447

€214,980

€214,980

Level 3
€

Total

€113,447

€113,447

€214,980

€214,980

Unrealised future gains and losses on these forward contracts have been recognised directly
in the statement of financial position and the statement of other comprehensive income (page

11), in accordance with the Company’s cash flow hedge accounting policy.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

19 Financial instruments — Hedge accounting (continued)

The following forward foreign currency contracts were open as at 30 September 2023.

Buy Euro Unrealised Unrealised Total
Gain (Loss) Unrealised
Gain /
(Loss)
Sell US Dollar
$2,400,000 €2,197,941 €1,598 (€45,934) (€44,336)
Sell Japanese Yen
¥955,000,000 €6,564,328 €349,889 - €349,889
Sell British
Pounds
£2,900,000 €3,275,396 €1,323 (€36,961) (€35,638)
€352,810 (€82,895) €269,915

These cash flow hedges were placed with Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London
Branch) and settled quarterly over the period 1 December 2023 — 30 September 2024. The
fair value on the open contracts was calculated using WM Reuters forward fx rates. During
the year ended 30 September 2023 a gain of €466,236 (2022: loss of €61,420) was reclassified
to the income statement, having previously been recorded in the statement of other
comprehensive income statement in accordance with the cash flow hedging policy. No
collateral existed for any derivative contracts.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€ € € €

Assets
Forward
currency €352,810 €352,810
contracts
Total - €352,810 - €353,810
Liabilities
Forward
currency €82,895 €82,895
contracts
Total - €82,895 - €82,895

Unrealised future gains and losses on these forward contracts have been recognised directly
in the statement of financial position and the statement of other comprehensive income (page
11), in accordance with the Company’s cash flow hedge accounting policy.
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SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Notes
Forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 (continued)

20

21

Guarantee under Irish Companies Act, 2014

Under Section 357 (1) (b) of the Irish Companies Act, 2014 companies registered in Ireland may be
exempted from filing their individual accounts provided that their liabilities are irrevocably
guaranteed by a Parent Company, which is required to be a registered Company of a Member State of
the European Union. The Parent Company must incorporate the results of the subsidiaries into its
Group accounts. The results of the Company have been consolidated into the results of the immediate
Parent Company and Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (Ireland) Limited has agreed to irrevocably guarantee
the liabilities of the Company as at 30 September 2024, in accordance with Section 357 of the Act.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 29 January 2025.
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